No. 15-0943

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SHARI KINSETH AND RICKY KINSETH, co-executors of the
estate of LARRY KINSETH, deceased,
Plaintiffs-Appellees/Cross-Appellants,

v.

WEIL-MCLAIN,
Defendant-Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

and

STATE OF IOWA, ex. rel., CIVIL REPARATIONS TRUST FUND,
Intervenor.

Review of Decision of Iowa Court of Appeals
Dated April 19, 2017

AMENDED APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

Misty A. Farris *Pro Hac Vice*
SIMON GREENSTONE PANATIER
BARTLETT, PC
3232 McKinney Ave., Suite 610
Dallas, TX 75204
(214) 687-3248 Telephone
(214) 276-7699 Facsimile
mfarris@sgpblaw.com

James H. Cook
DUTTON, BRAUN, STAACK &
HELLMAN
3151 Brockway Road
Waterloo, IA 50701

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January 2008, Larry Kinseth (“Kinseth”) and his wife, Shari Kinseth, brought suit in the District Court for Wright County, seeking damages arising from Kinseth’s diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma, a cancer uniquely caused by asbestos exposure. (App. 1, 6). They sued the manufacturers of asbestos-containing products Kinseth was exposed to during his long career as a heating and plumbing service technician, including Weil-McLain. (App. 5-6).

After Kinseth died from mesothelioma in January 2009, Shari Kinseth and Kinseth’s son, Ricky Kinseth, were substituted as Plaintiffs to pursue a wrongful death claim. (2nd Am. Pet. p. 2; Order 4/10/12 pp. 1-2). The complaint was later amended to add a claim for punitive damages. (3rd Am. Pet. p. 12; Order 4/10/12 pp. 1-2).

In October 2010, Judge Stephen P. Carroll issued a combined 98-page ruling on Defendants’ summary judgment motions based on Iowa’s 15-year statute of repose for claims arising out of defects in improvements to real property, Iowa Code § 614.1(11) (2009). (App. 10-107). The court determined that pumps, valves, boilers, and other equipment became improvements to real property when they were

permanently attached to a building, so that claims based on Kinseth's exposure after the equipment was installed were barred. (App. 27-32, 38-39, 41-42, 50, 55, 65-66, 70, 73-74, 77-78, 81). The court distinguished exposures occurring before or during installation, however, finding injury from such exposures to be compensable. (App. 50, 61, 70, 73-75, 78, 81). The court also noted, "Under Iowa law, 'a plaintiff in a products liability case must prove that the injury-causing product was a product manufactured or supplied by the defendant.'" (App. 33).

Summary judgment was denied or granted in whole or in part depending on whether Kinseth had exposure to a defendant's product before or after installation. (App. 105-06). As to Weil-McLain, Plaintiffs' claims based on Kinseth's exposure from tearing out old Weil-McLain boilers were barred, but Plaintiffs could proceed with claims involving asbestos exposure during installation. (App. 77-78, 106).

After a three-and-a-half week trial in April 2014, the jury awarded the Kinseths \$4 million in compensatory damages, apportioning 25% fault to Weil-McLain, the sole trial defendant. (App. 676-706). The jury also made a punitive damages finding against Weil-McLain, and awarded \$2.5 million in punitive damages, but did not find that Weil-McLain's

conduct was directed at Kinseth. (App. 707-09). Thus, the Iowa Civil Reparations Trust Fund would receive 75% of that award. Iowa Code § 668A.1(2)(b).

Judgment was entered against Weil-McLain for \$3.5 million, plus interest and costs. (App. 738-39). Weil-McLain's post-trial motions were denied, with one exception: the court granted a remittitur of medical expenses from \$500,000 to \$131,233.06, the amount stipulated by the parties. (App. 809, 822).

Weil-McLain timely appealed. (App. 824-28). After full briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for a new trial. A copy of the Court of Appeals' opinion is attached.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kinseth began installing Weil-McLain boilers in 1953. (App. 743-44, 869-70, 882, 884-85, 905, 925). He worked on the installation crew of his family's plumbing and heating business from 1957 to 1963 (App. 884-86, 908-10), installing "hundreds" of boilers. (App. 901-02; *see also* App. 891, 903, 917). He later bought the business and continued work hands-on installing boilers until he retired in 1987. (App. 886-90, 898-900, 904, 906-07, 911, 926, 933, 949-50).

Weil-McLain was a "real popular" brand of boiler. (App. 876; *see also* App. 873-74, 903, 925, 1088-90). Until the 1980s, Kinseth primarily worked installing residential sectional boilers, and Weil-McLain was the largest supplier of such boilers. (App. 923-24, 505, 928-29).

Weil-McLain sectional boilers used asbestos rope and/or asbestos cement as sealants between the sections to prevent the escape of hot, combustible gases. (App. 491-494, 514-16). Most Weil-McLain commercial boilers manufactured in the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s required both asbestos rope *and* asbestos cement. (App. 853).

Kinseth installed asbestos rope in Weil-McLain boilers, which was supplied by Weil-McLain with the boiler. (App. 876-77, 918-22, 939, 951).

Weil-McLain's rope contained asbestos from the mid-1950s until 1983. (App. 367, 853, 863). But Weil-McLain first used asbestos rope as a sealant in 1955, and even then, rope was used on "very few" Weil-McLain boilers in the late 1950s. (App. 862).

Kinseth personally used asbestos-containing cement products to install boilers. (App. 398-99, 921-22, 931, 963). From 1953 to 1955, Kinseth installed Weil-McLain boilers using only asbestos cement as a sealant. Until 1977, Weil-McLain supplied bags of asbestos cement or powdered asbestos for use in installation of its boilers. (App. 367, 481, 516, 844, 847). One type of powdered asbestos did not have a brand name. (App. 883). Weil-McLain's corporate representative Schuelke admitted that Weil-McLain sold Johns-Manville asbestos cement until 1977, but it repackaged it into unmarked bags. (App. 510, 520, 844, 847). Schuelke confirmed that some of the boilers Kinseth identified used asbestos cement as a sealant, supplied by Weil-McLain. (App. 512-13). Further, for years when Kinseth was installing Weil-McLain boilers, most used asbestos cement. (App. 514). One model Kinseth identified was manufactured from 1953 until 1972 and always used asbestos cement. (App. 856, 862).

Plaintiffs' expert Brodtkin testified that Kinseth was regularly exposed to insulating cement used to seal boilers during installation. (App. 372-75, 381-82, 399-400, 403-04, 445). The 100% chrysotile asbestos cement that Weil-McLain supplied with its boilers was essentially raw asbestos, which exposed Kinseth primarily when mixed with water. (App. 375, 378-79). Defense expert Rasmuson also admitted that Weil-McLain boilers contained both asbestos rope and asbestos cement. (App. 541).

Weil-McLain both knew and should have known that its asbestos products could cause fatal disease. As of 1939, Weil-McLain had *actual knowledge* that asbestos exposure causes disease. (App. 845-46). Weil-McLain's expert Rasmuson admitted, for example, that it has been known since the 1930s that inhaling asbestos dust could lead to disabling and fatal lung disease and that it was firmly established by the 1950s that asbestos exposure increases the risk of lung cancer. (App. 548-49). The evidence also showed that asbestos rope and cement have been known to be hazardous since the 1930s. (App. 318, 321-22, 338, 349-51).

Weil-McLain claimed it began placing warnings on its asbestos rope and asbestos cement products in 1974. (App. 517, 857). But this evidence was contradicted, as neither Kinseth nor his brother ever saw asbestos

warnings on Weil-McLain products. (App. 482-83, 964-68). Schuelke himself never saw a warning on Weil-McLain products between 1975 and 1978, and he conceded that a warning no one sees is not a reasonable warning. (App. 517-18, 521-22).

Kinseth died of mesothelioma at the age of 69. (App. 285, 288-91, 422). Plaintiffs' medical experts attributed his disease to his asbestos exposure from Weil-McLain boilers and other asbestos products. (App. 294-99, 410-13, 416-17, 419-21).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING WEIL-MCLAIN WAS NOT JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM CHALLENGING COMPENSATORY DAMAGES BECAUSE IT PROMISED THE JURY THAT IT WOULD PAY PLAINTIFFS BASED ON THE VERDICT.

Weil-McLain is judicially estopped from challenging the judgment on compensatory damages because it represented to the jury during the punitive damages phase that it would pay the jury's compensatory damages award. Every issue the Court of Appeals found problematic arose before Weil-McLain promised the jury to pay Plaintiffs based on the compensatory damages verdict.¹ Attempting to discourage a large punitive damages award, defense counsel assured the jury:

[t]he people at Weil-McLain understand what you have said here.... *they're going to compensate these folks* based on what you said....

(App. 726). Weil-McLain's counsel also said that Mr. Kinseth has "been compensated now and his family has been compensated." (Transcript at

¹ The Court of Appeals suggested Plaintiffs' judicial estoppel argument was limited to Weil-McLain's challenge regarding apportionment of fault. Op. at 21-22 n.8. However, Plaintiffs repeatedly argued that "Weil-McLain waived its right to seek a new trial on liability." App. Br. at 23, 51, 60. Estoppel applies to *all* challenges to the compensatory damages judgment.

2562). Weil-McLain is therefore judicially estopped from now contesting liability for the judgment it promised the jury it would pay.

The doctrine of judicial estoppel—or preclusion of inconsistent positions—provides that “[a] party who has, with knowledge of the facts, assumed a particular position in judicial proceedings is estopped to assume a position inconsistent therewith to the prejudice of the adverse party.” *State v. Duncan*, 710 N.W.2d 34, 43 (Iowa 2006).

Because Weil-McLain has contended on appeal it is not liable for the jury’s verdict, the unmistakable conclusion is that it intentionally misled the jury when it stated that it would pay compensatory damages to the Kinseths based on that verdict. Certainly, Weil-McLain’s new position prejudices the Kinseths. Weil-McLain should be judicially estopped from reversing its position on appeal.

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument on the mistaken belief that judicial estoppel does not apply when the representation is made in the same judicial proceeding. Op. at 21-22 n.8. However, in *Duncan*, this Court held that estoppel applies when a party takes one position in the trial court and takes a contrary position on appeal *in the same case*. 710

N.W.2d at 43. In fact, judicial estoppel applied *even though the party had been unsuccessful in the position it took before the lower court. Id.*

This issue is not important merely to the Kinseths, but to the courts:

More recently, we have described the doctrine as a “‘common sense’ rule, designed to protect the integrity of the judicial process by preventing deliberately inconsistent—and potentially misleading—assertions from being successfully urged in succeeding tribunals.”

Id. at 43 (citation omitted). Inconsistent positions are precluded at different stages of a lawsuit “to protect the courts rather than the litigants, [so that] an appellate court may raise estoppel on its own motion.” *Id.* at 43-44.

Weil-McLain staked out a position it hoped would depress the punitive damages award. Whether its promise had the desired effect *or not*, the Court of Appeals’ holding that judicial estoppel did not apply conflicts with this Court’s precedent and the policy behind it. The ruling should not stand.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DECLINING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL BASED ON PLAINTIFFS' COUNSEL'S CLOSING ARGUMENT.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that a motion for mistrial based on improper argument is timely so long as it is made before the case goes to the jury.

The Court of Appeals found Weil-McLain's motion for mistrial timely simply because it was raised before the case went to the jury. But this Court's precedent mandates that the motion be made at the close of argument *and* before submission to the jury. In *Andrews v. Strubl*, this Court wrote, "objection to the remarks of counsel during final argument *urged at the close of the argument* in a motion for mistrial made before submission to the jury is timely." 178 N.W.2d 391, 401 (Iowa 1970) (emphasis added).

Five years later, in *Rosenberger Enterprises v. Insurance Service Corporation*, the Court did write that "a motion for mistrial is considered timely if made prior to the submission of the case to the jury." 541 N.W.2d 904, 907 (Iowa 1975). But in *Rosenberger*, the defendant informed the court *during closing arguments* that it wanted to make a motion concerning improper argument, and *the court* determined when it would hear that motion (which was actually *after* the case was submitted to the

jury). Moreover, *State v. Nelson*, on which *Rosenberger* relied, is consistent with *Andrews*: “objections to remarks of counsel during final jury argument are timely *if urged at close of argument and* in a motion for mistrial made before submission to the jury.” 234 N.W.2d 368, 371 (Iowa 1975) (emphasis added).

Here, Plaintiffs’ counsel gave her closing argument the morning of April 24. (App. 594-95). . After more than an hour’s break in which to consider Plaintiffs’ counsel’s argument, (App. 632-33), Weil-McLain said nothing. It did not move for mistrial, seek a curative instruction, or ask the court for guidance. Weil-McLain gave its own closing argument, and Plaintiffs’ counsel gave her rebuttal. (App. 633, 638). Still, Weil-McLain said nothing about improper argument, and the court adjourned. (App. 644-45).

Weil-McLain did not move for mistrial—or indicate in any way that it intended to—until the morning of April 25. (App. 710). By this time, it was too late for the trial court to effectively address any concerns through admonishment and/or a curative instruction. Defense counsel acknowledged as much, stating “none of these things can be repaired at this time.” (App. 713).

But it was Weil-McLain’s duty to raise objections early enough that the court could address and attempt to cure them:

When an improper remark is made by counsel in the course of jury argument, *it is the duty of the party aggrieved to timely voice objection*. This is to *give the trial court an opportunity to admonish counsel or instruct the jury* as it may see fit.

Andrews, 178 N.W.2d at 401 (emphasis added).

Weil-McLain gave the trial court no opportunity to cure any prejudice—a fact the Court of Appeals ignored. Weil-McLain’s failure to address its concerns at the close of argument undermined any attempt to cure and avoid mistrial, and the Court of Appeals’ decision—finding that a motion for mistrial any time before submission of the case to the jury is timely—will only encourage gamesmanship and result in more mistrials. Again, the Court of Appeals defied this Court’s direction by not acknowledging Weil-McLain’s duty to “timely voice objection [that would] give the trial court an opportunity to admonish counsel or instruct the jury as it may see fit.” *Andrews*, 178 N.W.2d at 401.

B. The Court of Appeals failed to properly defer to the trial court.

“The trial court has broad discretion in passing on the propriety of jury argument and [the appellate court should] not reverse unless there has been a clear abuse of such discretion.” *Rasmussen v. Thilges*, 174

N.W.2d 384, 391 (Iowa 1970). The trial court is granted “considerable discretion” in determining whether any alleged conduct was so prejudicial it affected the outcome. *Mays v. C. Mac Chambers Co.*, 490 N.W.2d 800, 803 (Iowa 1992); *Smith v. Haugland*, 762 N.W.2d 890, 900 (Iowa Ct. App. 2009). Broad discretion is appropriate because the trial court has the advantage of being present to evaluate the effect of any improper statements. *Mays*, 490 N.W.2d at 803 (citing *Baysinger v. Haney*, 261 Iowa 577, 582, 155 N.W.2d 496, 499 (1968)). The appellate court “will not interfere with the court’s determination of such a question unless it is reasonably clear discretion has been abused.” *Baysinger*, 261 Iowa at 581, 155 N.W.2d at 498.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that “[a] district court has broad discretion in ruling on a motion for mistrial,” ostensibly recognizing “the trial court’s better position to appraise the situation in the context of the full trial.” Op. at 7. But while the Court of Appeals purported to apply an abuse of discretion standard, it did not actually defer to the district court’s determinations. The Court of Appeals focused instead on its own evaluation of prejudice:

In *considering the closing arguments* in their entirety, *we conclude* it appears quite probable a different result would

have been reached but for the misconduct of plaintiffs' counsel, and therefore, Weil-McLain was prejudiced.

Op. at 16 (emphasis added).

Moreover, in determining prejudice, the appellate court is to consider whether a curative instruction was requested or given. *Smith v. Haugland*, 762 N.W.2d at 900-01. By Weil-McLain's own admission, its delay in moving for mistrial prevented any curative instruction. (App. 713; *see also* App. 821). But the Court of Appeals ignored this issue entirely.

The trial court made the rulings on the motions in limine, heard the arguments, was aware of the opportunities for Weil-McLain to raise objections to Plaintiffs' counsel's closing argument—and its delay in doing so. Given this perspective, the trial court “carefully reviewed the transcript of the closing argument” and, based “[o]n this voluminous record, [found he could] not conclude that counsel's remarks affected the outcome of the case.” (App. 820-21). In its concern that “the power and leadership of the trial is [being] taken away,” the Court of Appeals did just that—by failing to give the trial court's own evaluation of the closing argument and potential prejudice the deference it was due.

C. Plaintiffs' counsel's closing argument did not require reversal.

The Court of Appeals clearly found statements in Plaintiffs' counsel's closing argument objectionable and an affront to the trial court's authority. Again, the trial court did not respond with the same indignation, (App. 820-22), underscoring the importance of perspective when reviewing the propriety of attorney argument. The trial court perceived no pervasive misconduct that infected the trial and required reversal, notwithstanding the Court of Appeals' re-assessment based on the transcript.

1. Plaintiffs' counsel did not make a rich vs. poor argument.

The Court of Appeals determined that Plaintiffs' counsel repeatedly violated motions in limine prohibiting discussion of the amount Weil-McLain spent on its defense and the relative wealth of Weil-McLain—primarily by discussing the amount defense experts were paid in litigation. Op. at 8-10. However, at the pre-trial hearing, Plaintiffs' counsel clarified that she was *not* agreeing to restrict evidence concerning amounts paid to expert witnesses, which evidence is critical to the issue of bias. (App. 130-32). Weil-McLain did not contest this, and the court recognized the motion as agreed. (App. 132).

Both parties explored the amount paid to Weil-McLain's experts. (App. 300-01, 316-17, 439-40, 529-31). Defense counsel first asked Weil-McLain's expert Rasmuson how much he had been paid to test Weil-McLain products, and Rasmuson testified it was "approximately \$540,000 for the study that was released." (App. 528). That sum had not previously been disclosed to Plaintiffs. (App. 533).

When a product manufacturer has sponsored studies of its own product, that "bring[s] their objectivity into question." *Int'l Rehab. Sciences, Inc. v. Sebelius*, 688 F.3d 994, 1002 (9th Cir. 2012). Courts routinely permit cross-examination of expert witnesses with evidence that they relied on studies funded by the party hiring them, including the amounts spent on the studies in question. *See In re Welding Fume Prods. Liab. Litig.*, 534 F. Supp. 2d 761, 763, 769, 771 (N.D. Ohio 2008); *Boren v. BOC Group, Inc.*, 895 N.E.2d 53, 63-64 (Ill. App. 2008).

Defense witness Smith agreed it is important to know if a scientific study has a non-scientific purpose or motivation. (App. 575). When Rasmuson was cross-examined, Weil-McLain never mentioned its motion in limine. (App. 533). Without objection, both defense experts acknowledged that Weil-McLain funded the only two studies supporting

their opinion that asbestos rope and asbestos cement are not hazardous. (App. 535, 543-44, 563). This was a factor the jury was entitled to consider in evaluating the validity of the studies and the experts' opinions. This argument was not an improper comment on Weil-McLain's spending in litigation; it was a proper exploration of defense experts' potential bias.

The Court of Appeals also noted a comment by Plaintiffs' counsel that numbers discussed at trial—for example, money spent on experts and brake literature—were so large they would seem insane to the average person. (App. 628-29). This comment was not a comparison of the parties' relative wealth. In fact, shortly thereafter, Weil-McLain objected that money paid for brake literature was not relevant to this litigation, which was sustained. (App. 643).

2. Weil-McLain was not prejudiced by Plaintiffs' counsel's statement that the jury should "send a message."

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