IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SHARI KINSETH AND RICKY KINSETH, co-executors of the estate of LARRY KINSETH, deceased,

Plaintiff-Appellee/Cross-Appellants,

v.

WEIL-MCLAIN,

Defendant-Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

and

STATE OF IOWA, ex. rel., CIVIL REPARATIONS TRUST FUND, Intervenor.

Iowa Court of Appeals Decision Filed April 19, 2017

RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' application raises no grounds remotely sufficient to warrant review by this Court: the appellate court did not deviate from an appellate decision "on an important matter," decide a substantial question of constitutional law, address an important question of changing legal principles, or face an issue of broad public importance. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1)-(4). Instead, the appellate court reviewed the record and reversed due to the types of "normal circumstances" under which further review is routinely denied. *Id*.

I. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined That Weil-McLain Is Not Judicially Estopped And Did Not Waive Its Right To Appeal.

Plaintiffs again press their implausible argument that Weil-McLain is judicially estopped from appealing the jury's verdict because, during arguments in the punitive damages phase, Weil-McLain's counsel said it would "compensate these folks based on what you said." Plaintiffs' request for further review is based on one case—*State v. Duncan*, 710 N.W.2d 34 (Iowa 2006)—that plaintiffs did not even cite to the Court of Appeals.

The doctrine of judicial estoppel "prohibits a party who has *successfully and unequivocally* asserted a position in one proceeding from asserting an *inconsistent* position in a subsequent proceeding." *Vennerberg Farms, Inc. v. IGF Ins. Co.*, 405 N.W.2d 810, 814 (Iowa 1987) (emphasis added). "[J]udicial estoppel applies only when the position asserted by a party was material to the holding in the prior litigation." *Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Hedlund*, 740 N.W.2d 192, 198 (Iowa 2007). "Absent judicial acceptance of the inconsistent position, application of the rule is unwarranted because no risk of inconsistent, misleading results exists." *Id.* at 196-97: *accord Duder v. Shanks*, 689 N.W.2d 214, 221 (Iowa 2004).

Plaintiffs' argument ignores this well-established law. Not only did Weil-McLain not take any inconsistent position, its counsel's statement to the jury cannot be a basis for judicial estoppel. That statement was not made to the district court, was not material to—or even considered in—the court's rulings, and presents no risk of inconsistent judicial results. Moreover, the jury found against Weil-McLain. Plaintiffs' novel theory that a comment to the jury can judicially estop a party from filing an appeal is directly contrary to this Court's holding that judicial estoppel "does not apply unless there has been a judicial acceptance of the inconsistent position." *Schettler v. Iowa Dist. Court for Carroll Cnty.*, 509 N.W.2d 459, 467 (Iowa 1993).

Plaintiffs now argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *State v. Duncan*, but *Duncan* does not suggest a different result. In *Duncan*, the Supreme Court applied judicial estoppel to prevent a criminal defendant from affirmatively relying on evidence at trial and then arguing on appeal that the same evidence was irrelevant and prejudicial. 710 N.W.2d at 43 ("It would be strange indeed for us to allow [the defendant] to use what he now contends is irrelevant and prejudicial evidence to support this theory of self-defense and following an unfavorable verdict allow him to urge reversal on appeal based on the same evidence."). *Duncan* is entirely consistent with the Court of Appeals' ruling.

First, unlike Weil-McLain, the defendant in *Duncan* took "inconsistent" positions. In the trial court, he took the position "beginning with voir dire" through his "final argument" that evidence of his domestic abuse was relevant. On appeal, he argued the exact opposite—that this history was not relevant. *Id.* By contrast, Weil-McLain took no position with the trial court. It simply made a

statement to the jury, which was nothing more than an uncontroversial promise to abide by any judgment entered after a fair trial. That promise remains true and there is no inconsistency.

Second, the *Duncan* court concluded the defendant "unambiguously" took the position that his history of domestic abuse was relevant. Here, Weil-McLain's general statement was not an unambiguous waiver of its fundamental right to challenge the district court's rulings or jury verdict on appeal. Plaintiffs' after-thefact assertion that the statement operated to waive all of Weil-McLain's appellate rights is on its face absurd.

Third, unlike the district court here, the trial court in *Duncan* accepted the defendant's position by allowing him to admit certain evidence—the same evidence he argued on appeal was inadmissible. Here, plaintiffs speculate that the jury decreased its punitive award based on Weil-McLain's statement, but they provide no support for their contention that a jury's verdict can constitute "judicial acceptance." Nor do plaintiffs offer any support for their speculation about the verdict, other than their disagreement with the amount of the award. And, of course, plaintiffs' judicial estoppel argument only applies to the punitive damages phase, not to the underlying jury verdict.

Plaintiffs' new citation to *Duncan* thus changes nothing. They have failed to establish any of the elements of judicial estoppel, identify any result that deviates

from Iowa law, or raise any conflict on a substantial question of law. At bottom, plaintiffs' argument rests on a misunderstanding of the law of judicial estoppel and, as a result, their argument lacks merit.

II. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined That Weil-McLain's Motions For Mistrial Were Timely.

Before the case was submitted to the jury, Weil-McLain objected in two mistrial motions to a slew of improper and prejudicial statements in plaintiffs' closing argument. (App. 710-15, 730-36.) The district court denied Weil-McLain's motions, holding that Weil-McLain had waived any objections not made during closing and that objections first raised in mistrial motions were untimely. (App. 822.)

The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that "[a] motion for mistrial based on remarks of counsel during closing argument is timely if it is made before the case is submitted to the jury." (Opinion at 14 (citing *Andrews v. Struble*, 178 N.W.2d 391, 401-02 (Iowa 1970); *State v. Romeo*, 542 N.W.2d 543, 552 n.5 (Iowa 1996).) The Court of Appeals' ruling is firmly rooted in over forty years of Iowa precedent dictating that an "objection urged for the first time in motion for mistrial made before submission is timely." *Andrews*, 178 N.W.2d at 401-02; *Rosenberger Enters., Inc. v. Ins. Serv. Corp.*, 541 N.W.2d 904, 907 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995) ("Where the alleged impropriety involves the conduct or remarks of counsel during closing argument, a motion for mistrial is considered timely if made prior to the submission of the case to the jury....").

In adopting this now well-established rule, the Iowa Supreme Court agreed with the reasoning of the Nebraska Supreme Court:

Continued objections by counsel to prejudicial statements of opposing counsel in his argument to the jury could place the former in a less favorable position with the jury, and thus impose an unfortunate consequence upon his client which was actually caused by the wrongful conduct of opposing counsel. This he is not required to do.

Andrews, 178 N.W.2d at 402 (quoting Sandomierski v. Fixemer, 163 Neb. 716, 719 (1957)).

The reasoning of *Andrews* and *Sandomierski* applies here, where Weil-McLain was confronted with a flood of improper arguments, but opted to object sparingly in the jury's presence and instead make its objections before the case was submitted to the jury. Under *Andrews* and *Rosenberger*, Iowa law gave Weil-McLain the right to make that decision without waiving its objections.

Plaintiffs now seek further review by reprising the argument that failed to persuade the Court of Appeals, claiming that objections to statements in closing argument are waived unless raised "at the close of argument *and* before submission to the jury." (Application at 14). Plaintiffs cite *Andrews*, but *Andrews* itself supplied the clear rule applied by the Court of Appeals that an "objection urged for

the first time in motion for mistrial made before submission is timely." 178 N.W.2d at 402.

Even if Iowa law imposed a more stringent requirement that objections be raised "at the close of argument," Weil-McLain satisfied that standard too, as the Court of Appeals noted. (Opinion at 13-14.) On April 24, at 4:30 p.m., plaintiffs' counsel concluded her closing argument. The district court's next statement was: "Well, it's 4:30, it's been a long day, so I'm not -- I'm choosing not to read the instructions to you at this time We'll resume at 9:00 tomorrow morning." (App. 644-45.) On April 25, trial reconvened at 9:02 a.m. The first words by the judge were: "Okay. You wanted to make a record, sir." Weil-McLain's counsel answered: "Yes, Your Honor. At this time Defendant, Weil-McLain, moves for a mistrial for Plaintiffs' improper argument in close and for a variety of reasons, and if I may go through them." Weil-McLain then raised various grounds for mistrial, including plaintiff's closing misconduct. (App. 710.) Weil-McLain's mistrial motion immediately followed plaintiffs' argument. Iowa law does not require more.

Again citing only *Andrews*, plaintiffs contend that objections are timely only if raised in a motion for mistrial immediately following each *subsection* of improper argument, finding fault with Weil-McLain for waiting until the conclusion of plaintiffs' rebuttal argument to move for a mistrial. But there is no

authority for plaintiffs' proposed rule, and an application for further review will not be granted to *change* established law. The rule on preservation is set out in *Andrews* and *Rosenberger*. That was the standard applied by the Court of Appeals, and one satisfied by Weil-McLain. No further review is warranted.

III. The Cumulative Impact Of Improper Statements During Closing Argument Warranted Reversal.

The Court of Appeals concluded that it is "quite probable a different result would have been reached but for the misconduct of plaintiffs' counsel...." (Opinion at 16-17.) Plaintiffs do not argue that this decision involved an error of law, conflicted with a prior appellate decision, ignored a constitutional provision, or should have been rendered by this Court in the first instance. Instead, plaintiffs attack the Court of Appeals' assessment of the appellate record and fault the Court of Appeals for examining it *too closely*, making "its own evaluation of prejudice" and a "re-assessment based on the transcript." (Application at 17-19.)

Failure to rubberstamp the district court is not grounds for further review. If anything, the Court of Appeals should be commended for its careful attention to Supreme Court precedent, its meticulous consideration of the trial court record, including more than a dozen instances of misconduct, and resting its decision on the cumulative impact of the misconduct, without assigning excessive weight to any single statement. The court even stated that it was not reversing the district court "without pause and great consideration," as demonstrated throughout its opinion. (Opinion at 17.) There is no basis in law or fact to challenge the decision.

A. The Court of Appeals applied the proper standard.

A request for new trial based on alleged misconduct by trial counsel involves a two-step inquiry. *See, e.g., Conn v. Alfstad*, 801 N.W.2d 33 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011) (citing *Mays v. C. Mac Chambers, Co.*, 490 N.W.2d 800, 802-03 (Iowa 1992)). "First, the court must determine whether counsel violated a motion in limine or otherwise made improper statements to the jury." *Id.* "If the court finds the attorney engaged in misconduct, the general rule is that a new trial will be granted only if the objectionable conduct resulted in prejudice to the complaining party." *Id.* Objectionable conduct is analyzed not for individual impact, but cumulatively. *See, e.g., Rosenberger,* 541 N.W.2d at 909.

This is precisely the standard applied and process followed by the Court of Appeals. The court began its analysis by identifying motions *in limine* potentially violated by plaintiffs' closing, walking through the applicable pretrial motions, plaintiffs' responses to those motions, and applicable rulings by the district court.

The appellate court then considered plaintiffs' potential violations of the district court's rulings. With respect to Weil-McLain's motion *in limine* to prohibit references to defense spending, for example, the appellate court quoted nine statements by plaintiffs' counsel that violated the trial court's pretrial ruling,

including plaintiffs' references to "a very neat expensive graphic," paying "tens of thousands of dollars" to create a graphic, "obscene money" in this litigation, "bought and paid-for science," and more. (Opinion at 8-9.) For other pretrial rulings, the Court of Appeals made a similarly measured assessment of plaintiffs' counsel's statements, such as her statement to the jury that "[i]t is not about what the family needs, it is about sending a message to a company who you've evaluated how they spend some of their money," and concluded that many of those statements were improper. (*Id.* at 9-11.)

The Court of Appeals also considered statements that could constitute misconduct even without a related pretrial ruling, such as the comments by plaintiffs' counsel to the jury criticizing Iowa's statute of repose:

[A]nd so the effect of this rule, *a rule I candidly don't understand*, is not only do you not get to consider tearout of Weil-McLain boilers *that happened many, many, many times*, but you don't get to consider the fault of [another manufacturer] and where the actual exposures occurred. That is the effect of this bar after 15 years of exposure.

(Opinion at 11-12 (emphasis added)). In its review, the Court of Appeals concluded that it was improper for plaintiffs' counsel to "question[] the application of the statute of repose" in this way because "[t]he court determines the law to be applied in the case and informs the jurors through instructions." (*Id.* at 12.)

The Court of Appeals then assessed the improper statements cumulatively, concluding that "[t]his continuous disregard for the court's rulings could not have

been 'a slip of the tongue' and was not an isolated incident" and thus "it appears quite probable a different result would have been reached but for the misconduct of plaintiffs' counsel, and therefore, Weil-McLain was prejudiced." (Opinion at 16-17.)

The court below was well justified in reaching its conclusions—the same conclusion recently reached by a trial court in Minnesota, similarly finding that the same plaintiffs' trial counsel made "blatant," "sequential, constant" and "systematic" violations of the court's pretrial rulings in her opening statement and that "the cumulative effect of these violations" was "extremely prejudicial" and obligated the court to declare a mistrial. (*See* WM's Notice of Supplemental Authority, filed January 5, 2017.)

In seeking further review, plaintiffs quibble with the Court of Appeals' assessment of specific instances of misconduct. Plaintiffs' criticisms are wrong, as discussed below, but also miss the point, especially in an application for further review. As the Court of Appeals explained, reversal was required because plaintiffs' counsel "persistently" made statements barred by pretrial rulings and showed "continuous disregard" of the court's rulings and basic principles of Iowa law. (Opinion at 16.) This assessment of the appellate record is not up for grabs on further review. Regardless, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that there was prejudice to Weil-McLain is firmly rooted in Iowa law and the record.

B. Plaintiffs' counsel repeatedly referred to Weil-McLain's wealth and corporate power during closing argument.

Weil-McLain had a right to present its case to a jury untainted by references to its wealth or the amount spent on its defense. *See, e.g., Rosenberger*, 541 N.W.2d at 907 ("When determining liability it is improper for the jury to consider the relative wealth of the parties."); *Whittenburg v. Werner Enters. Inc.*, 561 F.3d 1122, 1129-30 (10th Cir. 2009).

Consistent with Iowa's long-standing prohibition and condemnation of such tactics and arguments, Weil-McLain sought pretrial rulings prohibiting "[a]ny reference or comment by counsel" to the "amount of money or time spent by the Defendant in the defense of this matter," including "expert witness time and expenses," or to the "wealth, power, corporate size or assets of Weil-McLain." (App. 110, 112.) As the Court of Appeals observed, that became the law by which plaintiffs were to abide.

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